RECEIVED

NOV 20 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2015-001676

Stacey Sellers Respondent,

v.

Tech Services, Inc., Employer,
and
Builders Mutual Insurance Company, Carrier/Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

CALLISON, TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC
Richard C. Detwiler (S.C. Bar 6473)
Jacqueline M. Pavlicek (S.C. Bar 100556)
Post Office Box 1390
Columbia, SC 29202-1390
Tel: (803) 404-6900
Fax: (803) 404-6901
rickdetwiler@callisontighe.com
pavlicek@callisontighe.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission ("the Commission") err when it determined Stacey Sellers ("Claimant") was an employee and not an independent contractor?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal in a workers' compensation case. The sole issue on appeal is whether the Commission erred when it determined that Claimant was an employee and not an independent contractor at the time of his accident.

On November 8, 2013, Claimant sustained injuries while performing HVAC work by himself during the construction of a single-family residence located at 751 McKinley Way in Myrtle Beach (a/k/a "17 Market Commons"). (Tr. 14, 30, 43, 44, 240; Hamilton's Statement.) Claimant fell from a ladder while he was "trimming out [the] house" and sustained injuries to his legs and back. (Tr. 43-44.) Claimant was hospitalized following his injuries. (Tr. 43.)

On November 9, 2013, the day following Claimant's accident, Claimant notified his own workers' compensation insurance carrier, Riverport Insurance Company,¹ of his accident. (Riverport First Report of injury, Nov. 14, 2013.) Riverport filed a First Report of Injury with the Commission on November 14, 2013, listing Claimant's Federal Employer I.D. Number—a number distinct from Claimant's Social Security Number. (Riverport First Report of Injury, Nov. 14, 2013.) Riverport was the first named party in this case. (Riverport First Report of Injury, Nov. 14, 2013.) On November 20, 2013,

¹ By consent order filed May 7, 2014, Riverport was dismissed from this case. (Single Comm'r Order at 3.)

Key Risk, Riverport's third-party claims administrator, notified Claimant that it had denied his claim because Claimant "knowingly and voluntarily" excluded himself from his own workers' compensation insurance policy. (Key Risk letter to S. Sellers, dated Nov. 20, 2013; Cert. of Liability Ins.)

Also on November 20, 2013, Claimant filed a Request for Hearing ("Form 50"), naming Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC as a party to this case. (Claimant's Form 50, dated Nov. 20, 2013.) Claimant's Form 50 stated, "Claimant was a subcontractor for Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC." (*Id.*) On December 5, 2013, Claimant filed an Amended Form 50, for the first time naming Tech Services, Inc. as a party to this case. (Claimant's Amended Form 50, dated Dec. 5, 2013.)

At a hearing held on Claimant's Amended Form 50, held on March 25, 2014, the single commissioner heard testimony on the issue of whether Claimant was an employee or independent contractor at the time of his November 8, 2013 accident. (Tr. 1-4.) Claimant presented his own testimony and testimony from two City of Myrtle Beach employees. Tech Services, Inc. presented the testimony of its owner, its manager, and a local business owner for whom Claimant had also performed work as a subcontractor/independent contractor. The single commissioner issued an order on August 29, 2014, finding Claimant was an employee. (Decision and Order of Single Comm'r.) The single commissioner also dismissed Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC, finding that Claimant's injuries occurred while he was working on a job for Tech Services, Inc. (*Id.*)

Tech Services, Inc. appealed the single commissioner's order to the Commission's Appellate Panel. (Appellant's Brief to Appellate Panel.) On July 17, 2015, the Appellate Panel issued its order affirming the single commissioner's determination that Claimant was an employee of Tech Services, Inc. (Appellate Panel Or., filed July 17, 2015.) Neither the single commissioner nor the Appellate Panel made any credibility findings. (Decision and Order of Single Comm'r at 19; Appellate Panel Or. at 15.)

Tech Services, Inc. timely appealed the Appellate Panel's order to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Claimant first began working for Tech Services, Inc. ("Tech Services") as a teenager. (Tr. 42, 46.) Claimant's first cousin, Tracy Davis, is the sole owner of Tech Services, which performs general HVAC work in the Myrtle Beach area, including service calls. (Tr. 192-93.) Davis is also the co-owner of another HVAC company, Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC ("TSMB"), which is a sister company to Tech Services. (Tr. 192.) Tech Services has approximately seven or eight employees, which Tech Services shares with TSMB, and Tech Services has used various subcontractors over the years. (Tr. 203.) Each business has its own clientele, and before Tech Services sends an employee to a particular jobsite, they are informed of which business the job is for so that the employee can record their time accordingly. (Tr. 198-99.)

Claimant had been an employee of Tech Services and TSMB for more than ten years, until early 2013, when Claimant decided he wanted to go into business for himself

as an independent contractor/subcontractor. (Tr. 46, 199-200.) Davis testified Claimant first approached him in January 2013, about his desire to work for himself as a subcontractor. (Tr. 199-200.) According to Davis, Claimant wanted to go out on his own because Claimant believed he could make more money that way. (Tr. 199.) Claimant corroborated this, indicating he and Davis had had various discussions regarding his pay, and that they had met in Davis's office to discuss how Claimant could make more money, which included reporting Claimant's wages using a 1099 instead of a W-2 and by paying Claimant a flat-rate based on the job he was doing instead of paying Claimant hourly. (Tr. 51, 127.) According to Claimant, he had concerns regarding amounts being withheld from his paychecks, and he had gripes regarding overtime, which he claimed he never got paid for.² (Tr. 48, 50-51.) Davis testified he tried to explain to Claimant how difficult it is to make it in the HVAC industry; however, Claimant assured Davis that he had other clients who would give him business. (Tr. 199-200.)

Davis testified he told Claimant that he could begin working as a subcontractor for Tech Services after Claimant obtained his own workers' compensation insurance policy. (Tr. 200.) Claimant purchased his own workers' compensation policy on February 21, 2013, for \$1,250.00. (Money Orders & Receipt; Cert. of Liability Ins.; Workers' Compensation Policy.) In Claimant's policy application, it notes Claimant is a sole proprietor with 100% ownership interest in the business, and it provides Claimant's business's Federal Employer I.D. Number. (Workers' Comp. Application.) Davis

² Although Claimant asserted he did not get paid overtime prior to March 2013, Claimant's pay records show he was paid for overtime in January and February 2013. (Tr. 48, 116; Tech Services, Inc. 2013 Payroll Journal for S. Sellers; Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC 2013 Payroll Journal for S. Sellers.)

explained that Claimant waited until he got his income tax refund in February 2013,³ to purchase his own workers' compensation policy. (Tr. 200-201.)

Although Claimant asserted Davis gave him \$1,250.00 in cash to purchase a workers' compensation policy (Tr. 53-54), Davis adamantly denied giving Claimant the money, explaining that if he was going to give Claimant any money for the policy, he would have given Claimant a check so that Davis could document that expenditure for his business records (Tr. 200):

According to Claimant, Davis told him to get the cheapest workers' compensation policy available "because it was for tax purposes only." (Tr. 53, 55.) Claimant testified that he bought his own policy "from the first people [he] called and got a price from." (Tr. 54.) Claimant chose the company from which he purchased the policy, went by himself to meet with the insurance agent and purchase his policy, provided his company's Federal Employer I.D. Number, signed the application by himself, and the policy was in his own name. (Tr. 126-27, 129-130; Workers' Comp. Application.) Notably, Claimant made his own business decision to exclude himself from the policy as an owner and sole proprietor, and the price of Claimant's policy reflected that decision. (Tr. 129-130; Workers' Comp. Application; Letter from Key Risk to S. Sellers, dated Nov. 20, 2013). Nothing in the record before the Commission indicates Davis told Claimant to exclude himself from his own workers' compensation policy.

After Claimant purchased his own workers' compensation policy, he testified he provided Davis with proof of insurance, although Claimant could not recall whether he had provided the same to other individuals for whom he provided subcontractor services.

³ Employers must provide employees with their W-2s by January 31. 26 U.S.C. § 6051.

(Tr. 132.) Davis testified that after Claimant provided him with proof of coverage, he cautioned Claimant that he would have to find other companies to work for; however, Claimant told Davis that he would prioritize Davis's work because Davis, Claimant's first cousin, had helped him all of his life. (Tr. 201.) Claimant emphasized to Davis that he would have no problem finding additional work. (Tr. 201.)

Although Claimant's status changed from an employee to a subcontractor in March 2013, the status of Tech Services' remaining employees did not. Davis testified that no other employee's status changed when Claimant began working for himself, belying Claimant's insinuation throughout his testimony that Davis was trying to save money or scam Claimant by this change. (Tr. 50-53, 204-05.)

On November 8, 2013, nine months after Claimant purchased his own workers' compensation insurance and began working as a subcontractor for Tech Services, Claimant sustained injuries after falling from a ladder while performing HVAC work by himself unsupervised during the construction of a single-family residence located at 751 McKinley Way in Myrtle Beach (a/k/a "17 Market Commons"). (Tr. 14, 30, 43, 44, 240; Hamilton's Statement.) Claimant testified he fell while he was "trimming out [the] house," explaining the ladder fell out from under him as he was screwing in a vent. (Tr. 43, 44.) It was a job for Tech Services. (Tr. 44, 213.) According to Claimant, he did not recall anything that happened after he fell. (Tr. 44.)

At the time of Claimant's accident, Claimant did not have a license to conduct business in the City of Myrtle Beach. (Tr. 16-17.) However, two City of Myrtle Beach employees testified it was not uncommon for people to do business in the City without a

license. (Tr. 30-31, 39-40.) After reviewing one of the invoices that Claimant submitted to Tech Services for work he did at the jobsite where he fell days before his accident, the City's Business License Supervisor opined that Claimant was operating a business in the City without a license. (Tr. 14, 30-31; Seller's Heating & Cooling, Invoice 10182.)

The permit for the jobsite where Claimant's accident occurred did not list any subcontractors on the subcontractor roster (Tr. 17-19); however, Davis testified that he does not provide a list of his subcontractors to the general contractor and did not do so for Claimant. (Tr. 228-29.)

Jacob Hamilton, the manager for Tech Services, testified he was working at a nearby jobsite when Claimant called him for help after his fall.⁴ (Tr. 239-240; Hamilton's Statement.) He stated he ran to Claimant's aid after getting Claimant's call for help; and upon arriving at Claimant's jobsite, he found Claimant lying on the floor. (Tr. 239-240.) Hamilton stated that after finding Claimant, Claimant asked him, "Is there any way possible that you could file this under [Tech Services'] workman's comp because I'm effed because I don't have insurance. It doesn't cover me." (Tr. 241.) Hamilton told Claimant that he should not worry about it; however, Claimant told him "I'm gonna lose everything I've got. The insurance don't cover me." (Tr. 241.) Hamilton stated that he told Claimant, "No, we can't do that. I mean, you're not under our records or what have you of an employee anymore when you started subbing. You're on your own." (Tr. 241.) Hamilton testified that he called an ambulance for Claimant,

⁴ Hamilton understood that on the date of Claimant's fall, Claimant was a subcontractor. (Tr. 241-242.) He testified Claimant had told him about his discussion with Davis and that they had worked out some pricing. (Tr. 242.)

flagged down the ambulance when it arrived, and led the paramedics to Claimant. (Tr. 243.)

Hamilton testified Claimant called him later that evening from the hospital because Hamilton had to return work. (Tr. 242-243.) He stated he told Claimant that he had put all of Claimant's tools back in Claimant's van and moved Claimant's van into a different parking space, locking it up. (Tr. 243.) According to Hamilton, Claimant asked him again if "he could call it in under [Tech Services'] workman's comp," and Hamilton again told Claimant that he could not, noting it was illegal and that Claimant was no longer an employee. (Tr. 243.)

Davis testified he first learned that Claimant had fallen from Hamilton. (Tr. 207-208; Davis's Statement.) According to Davis, Claimant called him after he got to the hospital. (Tr. 208.) Davis testified that Claimant said, "I need a favor . . . I need to turn it in on your insurance 'cause I'm not covered on my insurance." (Tr. 209.) Davis stated that he told Claimant he could not file it under Tech Services' insurance because he had just undergone an audit showing that Claimant was a subcontractor. (Tr. 209.) Davis acknowledged that Claimant was worried about paying his medical bills; however, he asserted he could not lie for Claimant. (Tr. 209-210.)

After March 2013, Claimant also began doing a substantial amount of HVAC work for another family member, LeGrande Todd. (Tr. 170.) Todd is Claimant's second cousin, and Todd, Davis, and Claimant are all "close cousins." (Tr. 185.) Todd owns a number of companies, including Rooter Express, LLC. (Tr. 170-171.) Todd testified he had helped Davis get started in the HVAC business, and indicated that they were still

close. (Tr. 175-176.) Todd testified he had known Claimant “all of his life,” and that although Claimant’s reputation for truthfulness and veracity in the community was “not too good,” he still wanted to help Claimant’s fledgling business because “the boy’s had a hard life, and I got – I had a heart to help him.” (Tr. 174, 185-186.)

Before March 2013, Claimant had done some side work for Todd and others, although Claimant asserted it was “very little” work. (Tr. 95, 132-133.) For example, Claimant testified that before March 2013, he had done some side work on Todd’s home after Todd’s dog destroyed the duct work under Todd’s home and he had helped Todd change out an HVAC unit on his home. (Tr. 96, 177.) According to Claimant, the total amount of side work he did before and after March 2013, amounted to about five percent of the work he did, and Claimant asserted the amount of work he did for Todd did not change after March 2013. (Tr. 132-133.) However, from March 2013 to August 2013, Todd paid Claimant over \$5,000 for Claimant’s services, and Claimant admitted the amount of money he made working for Todd in 2013 was “not chump change.” (Tr. 135.) (Tr. 134; checks issued from Rooter Express, LLC to S. Sellers.) Moreover, Todd testified that he began to use Claimant as a subcontractor for HVAC work “quite a bit” beginning in March or April 2013. (Tr. 170.) Todd also testified that Claimant provided him with a certificate of worker’s compensation insurance coverage around that time, although Claimant did not recall whether he had done so. (Tr. 132, 172-173, 178.)

Claimant testified that Davis took a hard stance on employees moonlighting by doing side work. (Tr. 98.) According to Claimant, if Davis found out that an employee was doing HVAC work for someone else, “he’d fire us in a heartbeat.” (Tr. 56.) He

asserted that other Tech Services workers did side work too; however, it was “just a matter of if you get caught or not.” (Tr. 95.) Claimant admitted that prior to March 2013, Hamilton and Davis warned him repeatedly about doing side work, noting that he knew Davis considered it like stealing from the company, yet he did it anyway. (Tr. 119.)

Davis testified that before March 2013, he had many conversations with Claimant about doing side work, and he had previously fired an employee for it. (Tr. 194.) According to Davis, he had caught Claimant doing side work while he was still an employee, and he would have fired Claimant if he was not his cousin. (Tr. 194.) Davis stated that after he confronted Claimant about doing side work, Claimant promised he would not do it anymore, and to Davis’s knowledge, Claimant had not done any more while Claimant was still an employee. (Tr. 194.) Hamilton, Davis’s manager, testified he suspected Claimant was doing side work before March 2013; however, he did not have any evidence of it. (Tr. 249.)

After March 2013, Claimant testified that he no longer needed to worry about Davis or Hamilton accusing him of going to work on side jobs. (Tr. 158.)

Before March 2013, Tech Services reported wages it paid to Claimant using a W-2, and after March 2013, Tech Services reported the amounts it paid to Claimant using a 1099. (Tr. 123; Claimant’s 2013 W-2s and 1099s.) Claimant maintained that before March 2013, he was paid \$14 per hour based on time assigned for particular jobs in a flat rate pricing book. (Tr. 87). After March 2013, Claimant was paid by the job. (Tr. 123.) Claimant also testified that about a week or two before his accident, Davis told him,

“We’re probably gonna have to go back to paying you by the hour like we were originally paying you.” (Tr. 105.)

Davis testified that before March 2013, Claimant was paid hourly and he had never paid his employees using the flat rate pricing book, explaining the book is something used in the HVAC industry to bill customers. (Tr. 195-198.) Davis asserted that if he were to pay his employees based on the time set forth in the flat rate pricing book, his employees’ weekly pay checks would vary widely from \$300 to \$1,800.⁵ (Tr. 197.) Davis testified that when Claimant was still an employee, he was paid \$14 an hour “every hour from the hour he left the office until the last job, when he left the last job.” (Tr. 197-198.) Hamilton also acknowledged that Tech Services employees were paid hourly. (Tr. 242.)

Claimant testified that in late February, he and Davis met to address changing the way he got paid. (Tr. 51, 127.) Although Claimant did not bid for particular jobs, he admitted he and Davis met and discussed how Claimant would be paid going forward. (Tr. 128-129.) Moreover, Hamilton testified that after March 2013, Claimant told him that he had spoken with Davis, and that they had worked out some pricing. (Tr. 242.) According to Davis, he and Claimant addressed how much Davis was willing to pay Claimant for various jobs, and that Davis agreed to pay Claimant the same amount that he paid other subcontractors. (Tr. 202.)

⁵ Claimant’s combined weekly pay from Tech Services and TSMB from January 2013 to early March 2013 ranged from \$595 to \$280, based on the hours he worked and the commissions he earned. (Tech Services’ and TSMB’s Payroll Journals for 2013 for S. Sellers.) Claimant’s income from Tech Services and TSMB for 2010, 2011, and 2012 was \$29,214, \$32,995, and \$28,840, respectively. (Claimant’s 2010, 2011, and 2012 W-2s from Tech Services and TSMB.)

Claimant began submitting his own invoices when he began working for Tech Services as a subcontractor in early March 2013. (Tr. 205-206.) Claimant created his own invoices, bearing the name of his company, “Seller’s Heating and Cooling.” (Tr. 90-91.) Claimant testified he submitted invoices in order to get paid, and he indicated that Davis, his first cousin, advised him the invoices were necessary for tax purposes and that they needed to “look like an invoice.” (Tr. 90–91.) The bottom of each of Claimant’s invoices states, “Thank you for your business!” (Invoices issued by Seller’s Heating & Cooling.)

From March 2013 through November 2013, Claimant submitted over 140 invoices to Tech Services, and 6 invoices to TSMB. (Invoices issued by Seller’s Heating & Cooling.) Claimant’s invoices are sequentially numbered, beginning at 10001 and ending at 10188. (Invoices issued by Seller’s Heating & Cooling.) However, over 30 of Claimant’s invoices are missing,⁶ and the dates corresponding with many of the missing invoices reflect substantial gaps in Claimant’s work with Tech Services and TSMB.

Although Claimant testified that he was expected to go to work for Tech Services “every day” after March 2013, (Tr. 56.), Claimant’s invoices submitted to Tech Services reflect the following gaps in Claimant’s work from March 2013 to November 2013:

- Invoices 10009 through 10027 (following Invoice 10008, dated 03/14/13; Invoice 10028 is dated 04/25/13)—**Six Week Gap**
- Invoice 10030 (following Invoice 10029, dated 04/25/13; Invoice 10031 is dated 05/06/13)—**Two Week Gap**

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