THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2015-001676

RECEIVED

FEB 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals
Respondent,

Stacey Sellers.....

v.

Tech Services, Inc., Employer, and Builders Mutual Insurance
Company, Carrier..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert F. Goings (SC Bar # 74855)
Goings Law Firm, LLC
914 Richland Street, Suite A-101 (29201)
Post Office Box 436
Columbia, SC 29202
Email: rgoings@goingslawfirm.com
Phone: (803) 350-9230
Fax: (877) 789-6340
Attorney for Respondent

ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION CORRECTLY DETERMINED STACEY SELLERS WAS AN EMPLOYEE OF TECH SERVICES, INC.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves the jurisdictional question of whether Respondent Stacey Sellers was injured in the course and scope of his employment with Appellant Tech Services, Inc. On November 8, 2013, Sellers fell off a ladder while performing HVAC work during the construction of a single-family home located at 751 McKinley Way in the Market Commons subdivision in Horry County. Sellers injured his lower extremities, his back, and his neck as a result of the fall. Sellers alleged that he was a long time employee of two HVAC companies, Tech Services, Inc. and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC, and that he was working in the course and scope of his employment with one or both Tech Services entities at the time of the accident.

On November 20, 2013, Sellers filed a Form 50 requesting a hearing with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission ("Commission"). An Amended Form 50 was filed on December 13, 2013. Appellants admitted Sellers was injured as a result of falling off a ladder on November 8, 2013, but denied Sellers was an employee and his injuries were compensable under South Carolina Workers' Compensation laws.

Following a March 25, 2014 hearing on Sellers's Amended Form 50, the Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order on August 29, 2014, finding Sellers was an employee or servant of Tech Services. The Single Commissioner's Order was affirmed and adopted in whole by the Commission's Appellate Panel by Order dated July 17,

2015. Thereafter, Tech Services, Inc., and its carrier, Builders Mutual Insurance Company, filed this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sellers injured his lower extremities, back, and neck in the course and scope of his employment with Tech Services when he fell off a ladder while performing HVAC work for Tech Services during the construction of a single residence home located at 751 McKinley Way in the Market Commons subdivision in Horry County. Tech Services is a heating and air conditioning company in Horry County, owned by Tracy Davis.¹ Prior to this incident, Sellers had worked for Tech Services for over 12 years. Tech Services represented to the City of Myrtle Beach for purposes of permitting and inspection that no independent contractors would be working on this job site. (R. pp. 498-512; 513-662).

The evidence considered by the Commission consists of the testimony of the following individuals: (a) Sellers; (b) Emily Hardee; (c) Kristi Evans; (d) Tracy Davis; (e) LeGrande Todd; and (f) Jacob Hamilton. Because this case turns not on alleged errors of law, but on factual disputes alone, the testimony of these individuals is conveyed in detail below.

(a) Testimony of Sellers

Sellers is a 33-year-old husband and father. (R. pp. 137-138; 142). He is a cousin of Tracy Davis, the owner of Tech Services and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC. (R. p. 142). Sellers is not licensed to do business individually, and lacks the required licensing from the State of South Carolina to be a heating and air conditioning contractor.

¹ Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC is also owned by Tracy Davis. Both companies have the same address, phone number, and fax number and share the same employees.

(R. pp. 111-112; 154). He worked for Tech Services and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC for more than 12 years before the injury occurred. (R. pp. 141-142; 288; 318).

Sellers testified that in March 2013, Tracy Davis told Sellers that he would be paid without deductions and his wages would be listed on a Form 1099. (R. pp. 185; 218). The discussion regarding his wages occurred after Sellers complained about not receiving proper overtime and deductions from his paycheck. (R. pp. 145-151). For example, Sellers testified that on occasions, Tracy Davis would avoid paying time and a half by separating the hours worked between Tech Services, Inc. and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC. (R. pp. 143-144).

After March 2013, Sellers did not sign an independent contractor agreement and believed that he was continuing to work for Tech Services and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC. (R. pp. 150-151). Sellers testified that Tracy Davis instructed him to purchase his own workers' compensation insurance policy for "tax purposes." (R. pp. 148; 150). Davis gave him money to purchase a workers' compensation insurance policy that excluded Sellers personally from coverage. (R. pp. 149-150; 495). Sellers believed he was covered under Tech Services' workers compensation insurance. (R. pp. 225-226). Although Sellers performed "side work" in order to make extra money both before and after March 2013, he testified that his employment relationship with Tech Services did not change and he continued to work for both Tech Services, Inc. and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC. (R. pp. 150, 182, 190-194; 214-215).

Sellers testified that after March 2013, Tracy Davis on behalf of his respective companies, Tech Services and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC, controlled, and had the right to exercise control, over Sellers in the performance of his work. (R. p. 194).

Davis directed the time, place, degree, and amount of his work. (R. pp. 151-154; 164-166; 182-186; 194-201). He worked along side other employees, had a supervisor, and the quality of his work was inspected and monitored by Tech Services. (R. pp. 196-198). He never “bidded” out any jobs to work for Tech Services. (R. p. 200). Sellers reported to work in the manner that he was instructed, either coming to the office or directly to the job site. (R. p. 152). He reported to Tracy Davis, or his manager, Josh Hamilton. (R. p. 153). He ate lunch with other employees, and typically left work around 5:00 pm. (R. p. 154).

In addition to providing HVAC construction work, Sellers also performed service calls and entered into service contracts for Tech Services both before and after March 2013. (R. pp. 177-182). Sellers carried his employer’s service contracts as part of his job, and executed an estimated 20 to 100 service contracts for Tech Services at times after March 2013. (R. pp. 180-182; 469).

Sellers also testified that Tech Services furnished Sellers with uniforms, tools, equipment, and supplies to complete his work. (R. pp. 145; 151; 156-161; 178). The tools regularly used by Sellers, including the actual ladder from which he fell, were purchased and furnished by Tech Services, Inc. (R. pp. 165-175; 391-404). There were several other tools and pieces of equipment owned by Tech Services to which Sellers had access and permission to use on a daily basis at all times before and after March 2013. (R. pp. 167-174). Sellers was wearing a Tech Services uniform at the time of the fall. (R. pp. 157-161). Sellers carried Tech Services business cards with him while performing Tech Services work. (R. pp. 162; 164-165). Sellers testified that he made

business cards that stated “Sellers Heating and Cooling,” but primarily only gave them to other Tech Service employees as an ongoing joke. (R. pp. 193-194).

Sellers had access to supply accounts of Tech Services, such as Gateway Supply. (R. pp. 175-178). Numerous invoices support the fact Sellers had permission to purchase and sign for supplies on behalf of Tech Services. (R. pp. 405-467). The supplies listed on the invoices included not only those needed to complete Tech Services jobs, but also a variety of items typically provided by an employer to an employee such as overalls and batteries. (R. pp. 177; 405-467). Sellers never had a supply account for himself. (R. pp. 176).

Before and after March 2013, Sellers was paid on a weekly basis, typically on Thursdays or Fridays. (R. p. 183). Prior to March 2013, Sellers was paid on an hourly basis but the hours were based on a preset amount for certain jobs based on the “flat rate pricing book.” (R. pp. 182-184; 189; 207-210). Based on this pay structure, Sellers testified that “pretty much you were getting paid by the job.” (R. pp. 182; 185; 207-210). After March 2013, Sellers was paid based on invoices that he was directed to submit by Tracy Davis who predetermined the amount of time required to complete certain jobs. (R. pp. 183-186, 218). Sellers testified that he “was getting paid by what [Tracy Davis] had figured up as how long it should take to do the job.” (R. p. 218). Davis “controlled the price on [the invoices]” that Sellers submitted to him for his weekly checks after March 2013. (R. p. 186). Sellers never entered into any bids for jobs. (R. p. 322). Several weeks before Sellers fell, Davis informed Sellers he was planning to start paying Sellers as he was paid before March 2013 for financial reasons. (R. pp. 198-200).

Sellers testified that Tracy Davis had the right to fire him from Tech Services. (R. pp. 200-201). If Sellers was fired from Tech Services, then he would be required to seek employment with another heating and air company. (R. p. 201).

(b) Testimony of Kristi Evans and Emily Hardee

Kristi Evans and Emily Hardee are employed by the City of Myrtle Beach. (R. pp. 109, 130). They testified regarding policies for the issuance of business licenses and permitting for construction work for the City of Myrtle Beach. (R. pp. 109-111; 130; 498-512; 513-661). Evans testified that Sellers does not hold a license to do business in the City of Myrtle Beach. (R. pp. 111-112; 117-118). Any subcontractors or independent contractors that performed work in the City of Myrtle Beach are required to have a business license. (R. p. 112). Hardy, in particular, testified that one is required to have a permit to perform HVAC for a construction project in the City of Myrtle Beach. (R. p. 131).

According to Evans, Tech Services was required to list the names of any subcontractors or independent contractors that would perform any work on any projects in which Tech Services had pulled a HVAC permit. (R. pp. 113-119). She explained that when a licensed contractor pulls a permit to perform construction services, the contractor must disclose on the permit application any sub or independent contractor that would be providing work under the permit. (R. pp. 113-119). As it related to Tech Services' permit to provide HVAC to the subject location at 751 McKinley Way, Tech Services did not disclose that any sub or independent contractor would be working for it on this job site. Rather, Tech Service affirmatively represented that no sub or independent contractor was involved. (R. pp. 117; 127).

(c) Testimony of LeGrande Todd

LeGrande Todd is both a cousin of Sellers and Tracy Davis, and a close friend and business associate of Davis. (R. pp. 264; 270-272; 280; 14). Mr. Todd owns several plumbing related companies in the Myrtle Beach area. (R. pp. 265-266). Mr. Todd testified that both prior to and after March 2013 he hired Sellers to perform “sub work.” (R. pp. 264-265; 272; 279-280).

Todd believes Sellers’ reputation in the community is “not too good.” (R. pp. 269; 281). However, Todd has a close relationship with Mr. Davis, and even helped Mr. Davis start Tech Services. (R. pp. 270-272). Also, Todd assisted the Appellants in producing documents to aid in the defense of this claim, but failed to produce documents Sellers had requested pursuant to a subpoena. (R. pp. 273-280).

(d) Testimony of Tracy Davis

Davis, owner of Tech Services and Tech Services of Myrtle Beach, LLC, testified that Sellers worked for both companies for at “least ten, twelve years” and had never been fired from either company. (R. pp. 287-288; 318). In regards to the Tech Services job at Market Commons where Sellers was injured, Davis neither advised nor notified the general contractor on the project that Sellers was working as a subcontractor. (R. pp. 308; 319; 323-324). Davis knew that Sellers wore a Tech Services uniform and never saw Sellers wear any other uniform. (R. p. 319). He admitted that Sellers was wearing his Tech Services’ uniform on the date of his fall. (R. p. 319).

Davis testified that prior to March 2013, Sellers was paid by the hour, at \$14 per hour. He explained that although his company uses a flat rate pricing book, he did not use it to pay Sellers. (R. pp. 290-292). Considering Davis had employees working for

both Tech Services entities, an employee's time would be shared between the two entities in order to avoid overtime pay for any work in excess of 40 hours. (R. pp. 293-294).

Davis denied that he gave Sellers money to purchase workers' compensation insurance. (R. p. 295). Davis claimed he selected the amount to pay Sellers for each job. (R. p. 297). Davis gave Sellers a work van that was "about wore out." (R. p. 300). He stated that the tools and equipment used by Sellers were from Tech Services. (R. p. 301). Davis claimed it was "not usual" for him to send a "subcontractor" to perform a service call for Tech Services. (R. pp. 309-310). According to Davis, Sellers had permission to enter service contracts on behalf of Tech Services and to order and purchase supplies on behalf of Tech Services. (R. p. 322).

(e) Testimony of Jacob Hamilton

Jacob Hamilton assists in the "day-to-day" operations of the Tech Service companies. (R. pp. 333; 340). Hamilton's wife works as Mr. Davis' secretary. (R. p. 341). Hamilton was working in the Market Commons development at the time of Sellers's fall. (R. p. 334). Hamilton received a call from Sellers about Seller's fall. (R. p. 334). Mr. Hamilton and another employee went to the location where Sellers was working and saw him laying on the floor. (R. pp. 335-336). Hamilton claimed Sellers asked him to file the claim under Tech Services' workers compensation policy because Sellers did not have insurance. (R. p. 336).

Hamilton agreed that it was company policy for "employees" of Tech Services to wear a Tech Services' uniform. (R. p. 342). Hamilton's testimony that Sellers was not wearing his Tech Services' uniform at the time of the fall directly conflicts with both Sellers' and Tracy Davis' testimony that Sellers was wearing a Tech Services' uniform

when he fell. Hamilton's testimony was questioned by the Single Commissioner "because Sellers actually brought in his blue Tech Services shirt and khaki pants that were cut off of him by medical personnel." (R. pp. 16; 1495).

(f) The Commission's Order

In determining Sellers was an employee of Tech Services when he was injured, the Commission weighed conflicting factual testimony and held:

We find Sellers was an employee of Tech Services, Inc. on the date of accident. This finding is based on the preponderance of the evidence including (1) the City of Myrtle Beach Business License information, which did not list Sellers as a subcontractor or independent contractor working on the jobsite; (2) the fact that Sellers was wearing a Tech Services, Inc.'s uniform when he was injured (I find this as a fact - additionally Tracy Davis admitted Sellers was wearing the uniform on the date of injury); (3) all of the witnesses admit Sellers did side work throughout his employment with Tech Services, Inc., both before and after March 2013; and (4) Sellers continued to perform service calls for Tech Services, Inc. while wearing a Tech Services uniform and providing customers with Tech Services, Inc. invoices even after the alleged change in Sellers's employment status. I find that Tech Services, Inc. affirmatively and tacitly represented to the public at large that Sellers was an employee of Tech Services, Inc. This was done through the representations made to the City of Myrtle Beach Business License and Construction Services departments and customers of Tech Services, Inc.

(R. pp. 17-18).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for judicial review of workers' compensation decisions is provided by the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"). *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Under the APA, an appellate court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. *Transp. Ins. Co. v. South*

Carolina Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689–90 (2010) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1–23–380(5)(d),(e)). However, because this case presents a question of jurisdiction, the appellate court may take its own view of the facts upon which jurisdiction is dependent. *Wilson v. Georgetown County*, 316 S.C. 92, 447 S.E.2d 841 (1994).

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